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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF 

ALABAMA NORTHEASTERN DIVISION 
 
Mary Ann McMahan-McWhorter, ) 
      ) 
Plaintiff.     ) Civil Action No.: 
      ) 
vs.      ) JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 
      ) 
Sequel TSI Holdings, LLC.,  )   
      ) 
      ) 
Defendant.     ) 
 

 COMPLAINT 

COMES NOW the Plaintiff, Mary Ann McMahan-McWhorter, (“Plaintiff”) by and 

through her undersigned counsel, and hereby files this Complaint against Sequel TSI 

Holdings, LLC (“Defendant”) and seeks redress for discrimination and retaliation 

suffered in Plaintiff’s capacity as an employee of the Defendant. Plaintiff has been 

discriminated against by the Defendant on account of Plaintiff’s disability in 

violation of the Americans with Disabilities Act, 42 U.S.C. §§ 12101 et seq., and 

any other cause(s) of action that can be inferred from the facts set forth herein and 

states the follows: 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 
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1. The jurisdiction of this Court is invoked pursuant to 28 U.S.C . § 1331 because 

this action arises under the laws of the United States, 42 U.S.C. § 12117(a) 

because the action arises under the ADA.   

2. The unlawful employment acts alleged herein took place within the 

Northeastern Division of the Northern District of Alabama.   

3. Venue is proper in this Court, The United States District Court for the 

Northern District of Alabama, pursuant to Title 28, U.S.C § 1391 and the 

Local Rules of the United States District Court for the Northern District of 

Alabama.  

PARTIES 
 

4. Plaintiff Mary Ann McMahan-McWhorter is domiciled in the State of 

Alabama.  

5. At all relevant times the Plaintiff was an “employee” of the Defendant.  

6. The Defendant Sequel TSI Holdings, LLC is a foreign limited liability 

company doing business at 1131 Eagletree Lane Huntsville, Al 35801. 

7. At all relevant times, Defendant was an “employer.”  

COMPLIANCE WITH THE JURISDICTIONAL REQUIREMENTS  

8. Plaintiff has complied with the jurisdictional requirements on to wit: that on 

or about September 4, 2020, Plaintiff caused a charge of discrimination in 
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employment to be filed with the Equal Employment Opportunity 

Commission. 

9. A Notification of a Right to Sue Letter was received and this Complaint has 

been filed within ninety (90) days of receipt of said Notification of Right to 

Sue.  A copy of the Notice is attached as Exhibit 1.  

GENERAL FACTS 

 

10. Plaintiff began working for the Defendant in accounts receivable around May 
of 2014.  
 

11. Around January 26, 2019 Plaintiff developed floaters in her eye. 

12. This was due to the jelly in her eye detaching from her retina. 

13. Plaintiff informed her supervisor about the issues she was experiencing.  

14. Plaintiff was at one point informed a meeting would take place about reaching 

an accommodation. 

15. However, no such meeting ever took place.  

16. On or about April 4, 2019 Plaintiff was terminated.   

 

COUNT I 

Violation of The Americans With Disabilities Act 

17. Plaintiff repeats and realleges paragraphs 1-16 as if set forth in full herein.   
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18. Plaintiff is a qualified individual with a disability which affects major life 

activities. 

19.  Plaintiff was able to perform all the essential functions of her job with 

reasonable accommodations.  

20. Specifically, Plaintiff was diagnosed with a posterior vitreous detachment in 

her left eye, which causes floaters due to the jelly in her eye detaching from 

the retina and decreased vision. 

21. This condition caused Plaintiff to develop floaters in her eye, which worsened 

when exposed to prolonged bright lights. 

22. Plaintiff informed her supervisor Mary Caudle about the floaters. 

23. Mary Caudle told the Plaintiff “I have floaters too; I just deal with it.” 

24. Plaintiff requested a reasonable accommodation of dimmer lights at her 

workstation. 

25. Instead of granting this simple accommodation of just removing a few light 

bulbs, Defendant moved Plaintiff to an even brighter work station. 

26. Plaintiff was terminated on or about April 4, 2019.   

27. Defendant has discriminated against Plaintiff because of her disability and/or 

her perception of her disability by terminating her employment in violation of 

The Americans with Disability Act.  
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28. Plaintiff has suffered and continues to suffer lost earnings, emotional distress, 

loss of self-esteem and other damages as a direct result of Defendant’s 

unlawful discrimination.   

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff prays that this Honorable Court will: 

a. Issue a declaratory judgment, declaring the defendants past practices herein 

to be unlawful. 

b. Order Defendant to institute and carry out polices, practices, and programs 

providing equal employment opportunities for Plaintiff and other employees 

and eradicate the effects of its past and present unlawful employment 

practices. 

c. Order the Defendant to make whole the Plaintiff by providing appropriate 

back pay with prejudgment interest, in amounts to be proved at trial, and other 

affirmative relief necessary to eradicate the effects of Defendants unlawful 

employment practices.  

d. Order Defendant to make whole Plaintiff by providing compensation for past 

and future pecuniary and non-pecuniary losses resulting from the unlawful 

employment practices described above, including, but not limited to 

emotional pain, suffering, anxiety, loss of enjoyment of life, humiliation, and 

inconvenience, in amounts to be determined at trial. 
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e. Order Defendant to pay Plaintiff punitive damages for its malice or reckless 

indifference to Plaintiff’s federally protected rights described above, in 

amounts to be determined at trial. 

f.  Grant such further relief as the Court deems necessary and proper. 

COUNT II 

Retaliation Under The American’s With Disability Act 

29. Plaintiff repeats and realleges paragraphs 1-28 as if set forth in full herein. 

30.  After requesting a reasonable accommodation in the form of a lighter work 

station, Plaintiff was forced to work in a brighter location.  

31. Further Plaintiff was stripped of her usual job duties.  

32. Around February of 2019 Plaintiff was forced to complete data input projects.  

33. This was a job she had not been required to do prior to her request for a 

reasonable accommodation for her qualifying disability. 

34. The tasks required her to sit in front of a bright computer for hours without 

stopping.  

35. The task required her to look back and forth on the computer, straining her 

eyes and causing increased floater activity.  

36. Plaintiff again asked for a reasonable accommodation to simply have the 

reports printed for her to work on. 

Case 5:20-cv-01926-HNJ   Document 1   Filed 12/03/20   Page 6 of 15



7 
 

37. However, no such accommodation was made.  

38. Further, Plaintiff was asked to complete such tasks in unreasonable time 

frames.   

39. Plaintiff again reiterated that she could do all essential job functions with a 

reasonable accommodation. 

40. However, she was never given such accommodation.   

41. Plaintiff again was asked to perform a data input project in March of 2019. 

42. This was not Plaintiff’s normal job duties and was a demotion.  

43. Plaintiff has a good faith belief this was in further retaliation for seeking a 

reasonable accommodation.  

44. Further, Plaintiff has a good faith belief that she was given this project as 

retaliation for seeking an accommodation as it was difficult and nearly 

impossible to do without an accommodation. 

45. Finally, in March of 2019 Plaintiff was told she would be moved to solely 

input data jobs. 

46. This again was a demotion.   

47. On or about April 4, 2019 Plaintiff was terminated.  

48.  By engaging in the conduct described above Defendant unlawfully retaliated 

against Plaintiff because she requested an accommodation for her disability in 

violation of the ADA. 
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49. Plaintiff has suffered and continues to suffer lost earnings, emotional distress, 

loss of self-esteem and other damages as a direct result of Defendant’s 

unlawful discrimination.   

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff prays that this Honorable Court will: 

a. Issue a declaratory judgment, declaring the defendants past practices herein 

to be unlawful. 

b. Order Defendant to institute and carry out polices, practices, and programs 

providing equal employment opportunities for Plaintiff and other employees 

and eradicate the effects of its past and present unlawful employment 

practices. 

c. Order the Defendant to make whole the Plaintiff by providing appropriate 

back pay with prejudgment interest, in amounts to be proved at trial, and other 

affirmative relief necessary to eradicate the effects of Defendants unlawful 

employment practices.  

d. Order Defendant to make whole Plaintiff by providing compensation for past 

and future pecuniary and non-pecuniary losses resulting from the unlawful 

employment practices described above, including, but not limited to 

emotional pain, suffering, anxiety, loss of enjoyment of life, humiliation, and 

inconvenience, in amounts to be determined at trial. 
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e. Order Defendant to pay Plaintiff punitive damages for its malice or reckless 

indifference to Plaintiff’s federally protected rights described above, in 

amounts to be determined at trial. 

f.  Grant such further relief as the Court deems necessary and proper. 

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 

The Plaintiff demands trial by jury. 

 
Respectfully submitted,     
        
        /s/ Ray Foushee 
        Raymond Foushee 
        ASB-9344-X13G 
        Attorney for Plaintiff 

 
/s/Jeremy Schatz 

        D. Jeremy Schatz 
        ASB-2400-H34Y 
        Attorney for Plaintiff 
 
 
 
OF COUNSEL: 
Virtus Law Group 
100 41st Street South, Suite A 
Birmingham, AL 35222 
js@vlgal.com 
rf@vlgal.com 
 

CLERK: PLEASE SERVE VIA CERTIFIED MAIL: 
 

Sequel TSI Holdings, LLC 
C/O Corporation Service Company Inc.  
641 South Lawrence Street Montgomery, AL 36104 
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